No. 21-0900  
Polk County No. LACL143553

---

IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

\_\_\_\_\_  
MICHAEL SAVALA,  
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF IOWA,  
Appellee.

---

*ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY  
JEANIE K. VAUDT, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE*

---

FINAL BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

### WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING SAVALA ACCESS TO HISTORICAL JUROR DATA TO SUPPORT HIS FAIR-CROSS SECTION CHALLENGE TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE JURY

#### CASES

*Carter v. Jury Comm'n*, 396 U.S. 320 (1970)  
*Casias v. United States*, 315 F.2d 614, 615 (10th Cir. 1963)  
*Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)  
*Glasser v. United States*, 315 U.S. 60 (1942)  
*Holley v. J & S Sweeping Co.*, 143 Cal. App. 588  
(Cal. Ct. App. 1983)  
*Kiernan v. Van Schaik*, 347 F.2d 775 (3rd Cir. 1965)  
*McCoy v. Goldston*, 652 F.2d 654 (6th Cir. 1981)  
*Miami v. Cornett*, 463 So.2d 399 (Fla. Ct. App. 1985)  
*Skaggs v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 164 F.3d 511 (10th Cir. 1998)  
*Smith v. Texas*, 311 U.S. 128 (1946)  
*State v. Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019)  
*State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)  
*State v. Veal*, 930 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa 2019)  
*State ex. rel. Garrett v. Saitz*, 594 S.W.2d 606 (Mo. 1980)  
*Test v. United States*, 420 U.S. 28 (1975)  
*Thiel v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 328 U.S. 217 (1946)  
*United States v. Olson*, 473 F.2d 686 (8th Cir. 1973)  
*Williams v. Coppola*, 1986 Conn. Super.  
LEXIS 44 (Conn. Super. Ct. Dec. 10, 1986)

#### OTHER AUTHORITIES

11 Iowa Admin. Code § 62.2  
Iowa Code § 904.107  
Iowa Code § 904.108

<http://censusviewer.com/county/IA/Polk/2010>

[https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP05&g=0400000US19\\_0500000US19153](https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP05&g=0400000US19_0500000US19153)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Because this case presents substantial constitutional questions of changing legal principles, the Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Michael Savala filed an employment action against the State of Iowa alleging discrimination on the basis of his age, race, color, and national origin. Specifically, Savala alleged that the Director of the Iowa Department of Corrections, Jerry Bartruff, intentionally refused to complete his performance evaluations for three years despite conducting reviews for Savala's younger, white coworkers. And, because the performance evaluation was a condition to obtaining a raise, Savala claimed he was wrongfully denied an increase in pay that he otherwise would have received.

On the first day of trial, the district court presented Savala with an all-white jury panel. Savala objected that the panel's composition violated his right to a jury made up of a fair cross-section of the community. To support his objection, Savala requested jury venire data for the previous twenty-four months along with an opportunity to examine the jury manager. The district court overruled Savala's objection without providing him an opportunity to acquire the requested information. Following a

five-day trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the State of Iowa. This appeal follows.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The Iowa Department of Corrections (“Department”) employs over three thousand employees throughout its nine prisons and eight judicial district departments of corrections services. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 63:6-8). It maintains custody of over 8,500 offenders housed in its prison system and supervises over 30,000 people in the community on parole, probation or work release. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 62:18-25 through 63:1-2). “The chief administrative officer for the [D]epartment is the director.” Iowa Code § 904.107. By law, the director is dutybound to “[s]upervise the operations of the institutions under the [D]epartment’s jurisdiction” and “[s]upervise state agents whose duties relate primarily to the [D]epartment.” *Id.* § 904.108(1)(a),(b). To that end, the director shall “[a]dopt rules subject to the board [of corrections], pertaining to the internal management of institutions and agencies under the director’s charge and necessary to carry out the duties and powers” statutorily vested to him or her. *Id.* at



§ 904.108(1)(k). Pursuant to this authority, the Department's director has established a "Central Office" comprised of staff whose responsibility it is to serve as a reference to filed staff for technical support, as auditors of for assuring policy compliance, and as prime resources in each specialty area for the Director. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 62:3-14).

Michael Savala is fifty-six years old, brown, and Hispanic. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 85:7-9, 122:19-20). In 1999, the Department hired Savala as general counsel. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 144:23-25). His duties include management of non-litigation, day-to-day operational legal issues that arise within the Department. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 134:8-25 through 135:1-6). In addition, he supervises the Department's administrative law judges and jail inspector. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 142). He also serves as the administrative rules coordinator, public records officer, and oversees the inmate discipline system as well as the internal investigations unit. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 134:8-23, 152:8-25, 158:15-24). Savala consistently has accepted additional responsibilities above and beyond his regular job duties over the

years. For example, at times he has served as legislative liaison to the General Assembly and Governor's Office. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 155:125 through 160:1-9). Per Department policy, he is part of the administrative team in the Central office and reports directly to the director. From 1999 to 2014, the Department's director provided Savala with annual performance evaluations in December of each year followed by a merit-based pay raise. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 149:4-25 through 150:1-5). In all his previous evaluations, Savala's work either "met or exceeded expectations." (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 150:6-7).

Unless he has reached the maximum salary for his paygrade, Savala is eligible for a merit-based pay increase annually. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 80:1-25 through 83:1-23). In order to obtain the merit-based increase, however, Savala must first receive a performance evaluation from the director along with a recommendation for a raise. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 80:1-25). Iowa law requires that all state employees receive a "performance evaluation . . . at least every 12 months." 11 Iowa Admin. Code § 62.2(2). Department policy similarly requires annual performance

evaluations. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 99:12-25 through 101:1-18)(App. at 33).

In January 2015, Governor Terry Branstad appointed Defendant Jerry Bartruff to be the Department's director. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 61:10-12). From January 2015 to December 2018, Savala reported to Director Bartruff, who served as his direct supervisor. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 68:9-12)(App. at 32). After Bartruff became director, Savala noticed that he was not being invited to executive staff meetings and strategy retreats that included his younger, Caucasian coworkers. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 148-49). For example, on one occasion Bartruff invited all the younger Caucasian employees who reported to him to an off-site meeting. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 149:4-23). When Savala asked Bartruff why he was not included in the off-site meeting, Bartruff responded that he needed someone to "stay behind" at the office and keep an eye on things. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 149:4-23). Later in 2015, Bartruff advised Savala that he no longer wanted him to supervise employees. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 142:13-25 through 143:1-13). From 2016 to 2018, Bartruff refused Savala's requests

to meet to discuss the statutorily-required five year review of the Department's administrative rules. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 153:21-25 through 154:1-21). Yet, Bartruff allowed the younger, Caucasian employees to go into his office at all times of the day, and he would make time for them. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 19:3-6, 151:13-20).

In October 2015, the Department's human resources officer, Kathy Wolk, emailed Bartuff to notify him that Savala's annual performance review was due at the end of the month. (App. at 38, 39). Savala was not at the top of his salary pay range, and therefore, he was eligible for merit-based salary increases for all three years. (Trial Tr. Vol. II at 89:4-13). As of January 2016, Bartruff still had not conducted Savala's annual review, which in the past had occurred by December of each year. As a result, Savala notified Wolk of the situation, and she suggested he email Bartruff a reminder. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 150:15-24). On January 26, 2016, Savala sent Bartruff an email stating, "I visited with Kathy and she said to give you a reminder I am in need of my evaluation." (App. at 61). Bartruff did not provide Savala with a response, nor did he complete the requested evaluation. Savala

continued to approach Bartruff at least once every three to four months from 2016 through 2018 to request his annual performance evaluations. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 151:5-8).

In January of 2018, Savala consulted with the Department's human resources director, Susie Pritchard, and learned for the first time that Bartruff completed evaluations for three younger, Caucasian, Central Office employees that directly reported to him. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 172:11-25 through 173:1-25). As a result, the three younger, Caucasian, Central Office employees received pay increases, and Savala did not. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 168:18-25 through 169:1-19). Despite Savala's repeated requests, Bartruff refused to complete performance evaluations for him for calendar years 2015, 2016, and 2017. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 166:15-20).

Recognizing that he was not getting anywhere with Bartruff or the Department's human resources officers, Savala complained of discrimination based on his age, race, and national origin directly to the Office of Governor Kim Reynolds and Lt. Governor Adam Gregg. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 175:4-25 through 179:1-15).

Thereafter, Savala complained to the Iowa Department of

Administrative Services. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 179:16-25 through 180:1-15). He also raised his complaint before the Iowa Board of Corrections. (Trial Tr. Vol. IV at 6:16-25 through 7:1-20). On April 9, 2018, Savala filed his administrative complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission. The Department did not even bother to respond. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 45:3-6, 183:8-25 through 185:1-25).

In May 2018, Bartruff finally completed the delinquent performance evaluations from 2015, 2016, and 2017, entitling Savala to a merit pay increase. (App. at 40, 46, 53). Altogether, Savala lost approximately \$29,000 due to the three-year delay. (Trial Tr. Vol. III at 45:7-25 through 48:1-15)(App. at 60). In November of 2018, the Department's human resources notified Bartruff that Savala's annual performance review was coming due. On December 11, 2018, Bartruff announced that he would be retiring. Bartruff left on December 27, 2018, without giving Savala the courtesy of completing his annual performance evaluation for the year. (Trial Tr. Vol. IV at 12:8-14).

On November 7, 2018, the Iowa Civil Rights Commission issued Savala a right-to-sue letter. (App. at 17). On February 4, 2019, Savala commenced this instant action against the State of Iowa asserting claims of discrimination on the basis of his “age, race, color, or national origin.” (App. at 12). Following a five-day trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the State of Iowa. (App. at 24). On June 1, 2021, the district court entered judgment in favor of the State of Iowa. (App. at 27). Savala filed a timely notice of appeal. (App. at 29).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW SAVALA THE OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE HIS RECORD IN SUPPORT OF HIS FAIR-CROSS SECTION CHALLENGE TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE JURY**

#### **Error Preservation**

Savala preserved error by objecting to the jury pool composition on the basis that there were no Latino jurors in violation of his constitutional right to a fair cross-section of the community. (Trial Tr. Vol. I at 6:1-25 through 7:1-6).

## **Scope and Standard of Review**

The standard of review for Savala's constitutional challenge to the composition of the jury is *de novo*. *State v. Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d 293, 298 (Iowa 2019) ("We review constitutional issues *de novo*").

## **Analysis**

On the first day of trial, the parties appeared for voir dire, and there were no Latino jurors in the venire. Savala, who is Latino, objected to the composition of the venire on the basis that it violated his right to a jury that represents a fair cross-section of the community:

MR. DICKEY: Your Honor, we would object to the jury pool composition based on an underrepresentation of Latinos in the jury population.

As I look at it, of the 24, only one of the jurors has indicated a mixed race. The remaining 23 jurors or, I guess, 21 now, are white. Mr. Savala has a constitutional right to a fair cross-section of his community.

According to the 2010 United States census information that I have, the Polk County demographic makeup for Latinos in 2010 was 7.58. According to the United States census [ACS] 2019 population estimate, that's now up to 8.7 percent. Under either scenario, we



would expect to see two Latino jurors if we had a truly reflective pool.

I had asked for this information last week so that we could do the analysis, if necessary, and I understand that's just not how things are administered in Polk County.

So I'm making the objection. I'm requesting from the Court -- I can work with Ashley or whoever has access to the last 12 months -- I guess we're going to have to go back 24 months because we haven't had jury trials for a year -- so that we can do the analysis of systemic underrepresentation. I don't know how long that will take to get to me.

What I would propose is we do the voir dire, and then I can do the analysis perhaps overnight or this afternoon, and then at some point we'll have to take testimony from the jury clerk on how we got this jury pool.

(Trial Tr. Vol. I at 6:1-25 through 7:1-6). The State resisted the objection on the basis that a plaintiff in a civil case does not have a constitutional right to a jury representative of the community:

MR. LANGHOLZ: It's the State's position that such a constitutional challenge is not recognized by Iowa law.

*State v. Plain* and *State v. Lilly*, the two cases discussing that, are criminal cases that rest upon the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution in Article I, Section 10, the right to an impartial jury. That has been recognized by the U.S. Supreme Court and Iowa Supreme Court for criminal defendants.

That right has not been extended to civil trials. The Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 10 do not apply to civil trials. The Iowa Constitution civilly just protects the right to trial by jury. The Seventh Amendment provides their right to trial by jury but does not contain the same right to a fair cross-section of the jury [sic].

And the State's position is that the analysis Mr. Dickey proposes is unnecessary to conduct here.

(Trial Tr. Vol. I at 7:7-25 through 8:1). The court summarily overruled Savala's objection and denied him access to the information about the jury pool as well as an opportunity to examine the jury manager:

THE COURT: Mr. Dickey, I note your objection. I tend to agree with the State on this. I don't think there is anything that I need to provide the plaintiff at this point related to this trial. And I understand you're making a record, and you should. So I'm overruling the objection.

(Trial Tr. Vol. I at 8:4-9).

**A. The right to a jury trial guaranteed under the Fifth and Seventh Amendments necessarily includes the right to a jury that represents a fair cross section of the community**

The district court is simply wrong that civil litigants do not possess a constitutional right to jury that represents a fair cross-

section of the community. “The American tradition of trial by jury, considered in connection with *either criminal or civil proceedings*, necessarily contemplates an impartial jury drawn from a cross-section of the community.” *Thiel v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 328 U.S. 217, 220 (1946) (emphasis added) (citing *Smith v. Texas*, 311 U.S. 128, 130 (1946); *Glasser v. United States*, 315 U.S. 60, 85 (1942)). “For racial discrimination to result in the exclusion from jury service of otherwise qualified groups not only violates our Constitution and the laws enacted under it but is at war with our basic concepts of a democratic society and a representative government.” *Smith*, 311 U.S. at 130.

While not expressly enumerated in the United States Constitution, the right to a jury representing a fair cross-section of the community flows from the Due Process Clause. *United States v. Olson*, 473 F.2d 686, 688 (8th Cir. 1973). The “very idea of a jury” is “a body truly representative of the community, composed of the peers or equals of the person whose rights it is selected or summoned to determine.” *Carter v. Jury Comm’n*, 396 U.S. 320, 330 (1970). That means a jury “of his neighbors, fellows,

associates, [and] persons having the same legal status in society as that which he holds.” *Id.* Not surprisingly, several federal circuit courts of appeals have found the right to an impartial jury in civil cases to be inherent in the Fifth and Seventh Amendments. *Skaggs v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 164 F.3d 511, 514-15 (10th Cir. 1998); *McCoy v. Goldston*, 652 F.2d 654, 657 (6th Cir. 1981); *Kiernan v. Van Schaik*, 347 F.2d 775, 778 (3rd Cir. 1965). The “right to a jury trial in a civil case would be illusory unless it encompassed the right to an impartial jury.” *Casias v. United States*, 315 F.2d 614, 615 (10th Cir. 1963). Thus, the “denial of trial by an impartial jury is also the denial of due process.” *Id.*

Several state courts have similarly held that “the requirement of impartiality inheres in any provision granting the right to a jury trial.” *Miami v. Cornett*, 463 So.2d 399, 402 (Fla. Ct. App. 1985). “[T]he systematic exclusion of jurors at any state of the selection process in *either criminal or civil proceedings* solely on the basis of group bias is constitutionally impermissible.” *Holley v. J & S Sweeping Co.*, 143 Cal. App. 588, 593 (Cal. Ct. App. 1983) (emphasis added). For this reason, it is “absolutely

clear that the requirement that the pool of jurors for the venire be composed of a cross section of the community *applies to both civil and criminal trial alike.*” *Williams v. Coppola*, 1986 Conn. Super. LEXIS 44 (Conn. Super. Ct. Dec. 10, 1986).

Because the district court incorrectly held that Savala did not have a constitutional right to a jury representing a fair cross-section of the community, remand is required.

**B. The absence of any minorities in Savala’s jury panel was *prima facie* evidence of systematic underrepresentation sufficient to justify the request for the historical jury data and examination of the jury manager**

In *Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357 (1979), the United States Supreme Court established a three-part test for proving a fair cross-section of the community violation. Under *Duren’s* three-part test, a litigant establishes a prima facie violation of the fair cross-section requirement by showing

- (1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a ‘distinctive’ group in the community;
- (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and
- (3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

*Id.* If a movant establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the non-movant to justify the disproportionate representation by proving a “significant” interest that is “manifestly and primarily advanced” by the causes of the disproportionate exclusion. *Id.* at 367-68.

Iowa courts employ the standard deviation test to measure underrepresentation. *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 302-303; *see also State v. Veal*, 930 N.W.2d 319, 328-30 (Iowa 2019). “Standard deviation is calculated by analyzing a sample . . . for randomness and fluctuations.” *State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801, 823 (Iowa 2017). The percentage of the distinctive group in the general population is determined by using the most recent United States Census data adjusted to show only those who are legally eligible for jury service. *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 304-305. Jury panel information may be aggravated so long as data closer in time is not omitted with the earlier panels are considered. *Id.* at 305.

In this case, the district court presented Savala with a venire *with no minority jury members* – let alone any potential Latino jurors. (Trial Tr. Vol. I at 6:1-25). According to the 2010

U.S. Census data, Latinos make up 7.58% of the population of Polk County. See <http://censusviewer.com/county/IA/Polk/2010> (last accessed 11/09/21) (Trial Tr. Vol. I at 6:9-15). The most recent American Community Survey (“ACS”) conducted by the United States Census Bureau shows that the percentage of Latinos in Polk County has grown to 8.4% as of 2019. See [https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP05&g=0400000US19\\_0500000US19153](https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP05&g=0400000US19_0500000US19153) (last accessed 11/09/21). On its face, the jury composition suggests underrepresentation of Latinos. Using the most recent ACS data, there was an absolute disparity of 8.4%. See *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 823 (“The lower the resulting percentage [of absolute disparity], the more representative the jury pool”). There was a comparative disparity of 100%. See *id.* (“The higher the comparative disparity percentage, the less representative the jury pool”). Based these widely-recognized statistical tests, Savala’s trial counsel properly requested the court to order production of the historical jury data so that he could conduct the proper standard deviation analysis. (Trial Tr. Vol. I at 6:20-25).

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