IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
No. 21–0900

MICHAEL SAVALA,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,

Appellee,

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County
Jeanie K. Vaudt, District Judge

APPELLEE’S FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

SAMUEL P. LANGHOLZ
RYAN SHEAHAN
Assistant Attorneys General
1305 E. Walnut Street
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5164
(515) 281-4209 (fax)
sam.langholz@ag.iowa.gov
ryan.sheahan@ag.iowa.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

I. A civil litigant has no constitutional right to challenge a jury pool for failing to include a fair cross-section of the community based merely on an underrepresentation of part of the community in the pool.

In the district court, Savala objected to the jury pool because it contained no Latinos. App. 63. He argued that this violates his “constitutional right to a fair cross-section of his community.” *Id.* While proper to preserve some challenge, he relied on no specific constitutional provision or other authority granting him that right.

Now on appeal, he points to the United States Constitution’s Fifth Amendment and Seventh Amendment as the source of his right. But neither amendment applies to regulate jury procedures in state court proceedings. So any claim based on them collapses.

Savala also relies on Iowa criminal cases recognizing a fair-cross-section right. But these all interpret either the Sixth Amendment or article I, section 10, of the Iowa Constitution. And those provisions apply only to criminal cases—not civil cases like this one.

Thus, Savala still cites no applicable constitutional provision or precedent that could grant him the right he seeks to enforce. And this Court should not extend its heightened fair-cross-section jurisprudence from the criminal to civil context with no constitutional basis to do so. Therefore, conducting *de novo* review—as Savala correctly urges—the district court’s ruling should be affirmed.

A. No right to an impartial jury under the Fifth Amendment or the Seventh Amendment could apply to state court proceedings.

After failing to cite any constitutional provision to the district court, App. 63, Savala now depends on the Fifth and Seventh amendments to the United States Constitution. *See* Appellant’s Br. at 18–19; *see also id.* at 4 (listing no constitutional provisions). But these provisions provide him no help in a challenge to the composition of a jury pool in a state civil proceeding.

The Seventh Amendment provides, “In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise reexamined in any court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.” U.S. Const. amend. VII. But “the Seventh Amendment applies only to federal court proceedings and not to state court proceedings.” *Channon v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 629 N.W.2d 835, 853 (Iowa 2001) (citing *Minneapolis & St. Louis R.R. v. Bombolis*, 241 U.S. 211, 217 (1916)); *see also Walker v. Sauvinet*, 92 U.S. 90, 92 (1875) (“The States, so far as [the Seventh] amendment is concerned, are left to regulate trials in their own courts in their own way.”); *Gasperini v. Ctr. For Humanities, Inc.*, 518 U.S. 415, 432 & n.14 (1996). Savala thus cannot assert a Seventh Amendment right here.

The Fifth Amendment likewise applies directly only to the federal government. *See Barron v. City of Baltimore*, 32 U.S. 243, 247 (1833) (“[T]he fifth amendment must be understood as restraining the power of the federal government, not as applicable to the states.”). Though some parts have been incorporated to the States through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, others have not. *See, e.g., Benton v. Maryland*, 395 U.S. 784, 794 (1969) (holding that the Fifth Amendment’s double jeopardy prohibition “should apply to the States through the Fourteen Amendment”); *Alexander v. Louisiana*, 405 U.S. 625, 633 (1972) (“[T]he Court has never held that federal concepts of a ‘grand jury,’ binding on the federal courts under the Fifth Amendment, are obligatory for the States.”). And the due-process guarantee against the States rests in the Fourteenth Amendment—not the Fifth Amendment. *See* U.S. Const. amend. XIV § 1 (“[N]or shall *any state* deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law” (emphasis added)).

In any event, courts have not recognized an underrepresentation claim, like Savala asserts here, under the Due Process Clause of either the Fifth Amendment or the Fourteenth Amendment. None of the federal or other States’ cases cited by Savala do so. They stand for the unremarkable proposition that civil parties have a right to impartial jurors. *See, e.g., Skaggs v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 164

F.3d 511, 514–16 (10th Cir. 1998) (considering challenge to juror for actual bias after trial); *McCoy v. Goldston*, 652 F.2d 654, 659 (6th Cir. 1981) (same); *Kiernan Van Schaik*, 347 F.2d 775, 778–83 (3d Cir. 1965) (reversing after improper limitation on voir dire).¹ And that civil parties cannot discriminate in the exercise of their peremptory challenges any more than those in criminal cases. See *City of Miami v. Cornett*, 463 So.2d 399, 402–03 (Fla. Ct. App. 1985); *Williams v. Coppola*, 549 A.2d 1092, 1095–1101 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1986); *Holley v. J & S Sweeping Co.*, 143 Cal. App. 3d 588, 592–94 (Cal. Ct. App. 1983).

Such an intentional discrimination claim is typically recognized as proper under the Equal Protection Clause—rather than the Due Process Clause—of the Fourteenth Amendment. See Nina W. Chernoff, *Wrong About the Right: How Courts Undermine the Fair Cross-Section Guarantee by Confusing it with Equal Protection*, 64 *Hastings L.J.* 141 (2012). Indeed, some cases Savala quotes from most extensively actually discuss only the Equal Protection

¹ Savala also twice quotes from *Casias v. United States*, 315 F.2d 614 (10th Cir. 1963). See Appellant’s Br. at 20. That *criminal* case had no majority opinion, rejecting a jury challenge by an equally divided court. See *Casias*, 315 F.3d at 621 (per curiam). One concurring opinion did equate the Sixth and Fifth Amendment’s rights to an impartial jury. See *id.* at 614 (Breitenstein, J., concurring). But Savala’s first quoted language suggesting some holding about civil cases appears nowhere in any of the opinions. See *Casias*, 315 F.3d at 614–21.

Clause’s intentional discrimination standard. *See* Appellant’s Br. 18; *Smith v. Texas*, 311 U.S. 128, 129 (1946) (considering claim under Equal Protection Clause that Texans were “intentionally and systematically excluded from grand jury service solely on account of their race and color”); *Carter v. Jury Comm’n*, 396 U.S. 320, 330 & n.16 (1970) (agreeing that prospective jurors could challenge “invidious” and “systemic jury discrimination” on account of race by jury commission, relying in part on *Smith*, while rejecting wholesale challenge to neutral statutes).

To be sure, the Eighth Circuit has recognized that the Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause and the Sixth Amendment both prohibit “systematic and *intentional* exclusion of any substantial portion of the community.” *United States v. Olson*, 473 F.3d 686, 688 (8th Cir. 1973) (cleaned up). But it rejected both constitutional claims against a federal statute excluding 18 to 20-year-olds from jury service. *See id.* at 689. And it provides no support for a statistical underrepresentation claim.

Neither does *Thiel v. Southern Pacific Company*, 328 U.S. 217 (1946), assist Savala’s cause. True, the United States Supreme Court held that a federal district court should have struck the jury panel in a civil case when the clerk of court and jury commissioner admitted to “deliberately and intentionally” excluding daily wage earners from the jury lists. *Thiel*, 328 U.S. 221. But that case wasn’t

decided under the Fifth or Seventh amendments relied on by Savala here. Nor was it decided under some other constitutional provision applicable to the States. Instead, it relied on the Court’s “power of supervision over the administration of justice in the federal courts.” *Id.* at 225. And even if it recognizes some tradition of an impartial civil jury that could carry over to one the inapplicable constitutional provisions cited by Savala, the intentional and deliberate exclusion found to contradict justice there is a far cry from the statistical underrepresentation alleged by Savala.

In fact, “the Supreme Court has never used the Constitution to condemn civil jury selection practices that result in deviation from the fair cross-section standard.” William V. Luneburg & Mark A. Nordenberg, *Specially Qualified Juries and Expert Nonjury Tribunals: Alternatives for Coping with the Complexities of Modern Civil Litigation*, 67 Va. L. Rev. 887, 922 (1981); Laura G. Dooley, *National Juries for National Cases: Preserving Citizen Participation in Large-Scale Litigation*, 83 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 411, 439 & n.136 (2008). And to the extent that some think there could be a limited federal constitutional civil cross-section requirement, it would arise from the Seventh Amendment—which doesn’t apply to this state proceeding. *See* Luneburg & Nordenberg, 67 Va. L. Rev. at 922–23.

The Seventh and Fifth amendments don't support Savala's constitutional challenge to the jury pool in this civil proceeding in state court.

B. The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution don't apply to civil trials.

Savala also cites as support for his constitutional claim, this Court's decisions in *State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017), *State v. Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019), and *State v. Veal*, 930 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa 2019). See Appellant's Br. at 21–24. And indeed, the Court held in *Plain* that a criminal defendant had a right to access the same sort of jury pool information Savala seeks here. See *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 828. But none of these cases relied on the Fifth or Seventh amendments that Savala now bases his claims on here. *Plain* and *Veal* applied the Sixth Amendment. See *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 821 & n.6; *Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 328 & n.5. While *Lilly* applied article I, section 10, of the Iowa Constitution. See *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 307.

Both of those constitutional provisions are limited by their text to criminal cases. The Sixth Amendment provides in relevant part, “*In all criminal prosecutions*, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed,” U.S.

Const. amend. VI (emphasis added). The Iowa Constitution similarly provides, “*In all criminal prosecutions, and in cases involving the life, or liberty of an individual the accused* shall have a right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury; . . .” Iowa Const. art. I, § 10 (emphasis added).

Therefore, the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution don’t apply to civil cases, like this employment discrimination suit. *See Turner v. Rogers*, 564 U.S. 431, 441 (2011) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not govern civil cases.”); *State v. Sewell*, 960 N.W.2d 640, 646–650 (Iowa 2021) (discussing longstanding precedent that article I, section 10 only “protects the rights of an ‘accused’”). And *Plain, Lilly, Veal*—and the federal Sixth Amendment cases on which they rely—thus don’t provide a basis for Savala’s constitutional challenge to his civil jury.

C. This Court should not extend its fair-cross-section jurisprudence from criminal cases to recognize an underrepresentation claim in civil cases.

This Court should not accept Savala’s implicit invitation to extend *Plain* and its progeny from its Sixth Amendment roots to civil jury trials. Savala offers no constitutional provision with any possible connection to state civil jury trials on which to engraft this doctrine. And even *Plain*’s textual and historical roots run shallow.

See *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 314–15 (McDonald, J., dissenting). But creating such a constitutional right out of whole cloth—untethered to any actual constitutional provision—would be extraordinary.

Assuming the Court *could* find some constitutional home unclaimed by Savala for a civil *Plain* challenge, it *shouldn't* do so. The heightened liberty interests involved in a criminal prosecution do not exist in a civil jury trial for damages. There's no community interest in providing “a hedge against the overzealous or mistaken prosecutor.” *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 821 (cleaned up). Nor are the same policy interests in reducing the disparate rate of convictions of minority defendants that undergirded *Plain* present in civil trials. See *id.* at 825–26 (“Empirical evidence overwhelming shows that having just one person of color on an otherwise all-white jury can reduce disparate rates of convictions between black and white defendants.”). And recognizing such challenges for civil cases would complicate and slow down those cases even further and add to the burdens on judicial administration by multiplying the sources of subpoenas and depositions looking into jury practices. See *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 316–17 (McDonald, J., dissenting); *State v. Lilly*, 969 N.W.2d 794, 802 (Iowa 2022) (McDonald, J., concurring).

Perhaps that is why Savala has pointed to no State that has adopted a *Plain*-like underrepresentation challenge for civil jury trials. The cases he cites instead recognize challenges to purposeful

discrimination in the exercise of peremptory challenges. *See* Appellant’s Br. at 20; *City of Miami*, 463 So.2d at 402–03; *Williams*, 549 A.2d at 1095–1101; *Holley*, 143 Cal. App. 3d at 592–94. And other States that have considered similar underrepresentation claims have rejected them. *See Garcia v. Tex. Employers’ Ins. Ass’n*, 662 S.W.2d 626, 630–31 (Tx. Ct. App. 1981); *Lewis v. Pearson*, 556 S.W.2d 661, 662 (Ark. 1977). Indeed, one of the cases Savala cites even includes dicta rejecting an underrepresentation claim, explaining “there is no constitutional right that the petit jury will result in any particular composition.” *Williams*, 549 A.2d at 1096.

Ensuring that *Plain* extends no further than the reach of the Sixth Amendment, doesn’t leave civil litigants with unfair trials. Of course, they still have a right to an impartial trial. Parties and all citizens are protected from *intentional* discrimination that excludes jurors under the Equal Protection Clause. *See Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete Co.*, 500 U.S. 614, 628 (1991) (extending *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), to civil cases because racially discriminatory use of peremptory challenges violates the Equal Protection Clause). Iowa’s statutes also vigorously protect against discrimination in the jury process. *See* Iowa Code §§ 607A.4, 607A.21, 607A.22, 607A.30, 607A.33. And if a party has basis to conclude the statutory requirements for drawing or returning the jury have been

violated, the party can properly challenge the pool on that basis too. See Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.915(4); Iowa Code ch. 607A.

But Savala made none of these challenges. And there's nothing in the record to suggest that they should have been made. The fair-cross-section challenge that he *did* make to this jury pool has no basis. The district court did not err in overruling it.

CONCLUSION

The district court properly rejected Savala's constitutional challenge to the jury pool. Even now on appeal, he has alleged no proper constitutional violation applicable to a civil proceeding in state court that justifies remand for further factual development. The district court's judgment should be affirmed.

REQUEST FOR ORAL SUBMISSION

The State requests to be heard in oral argument.